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REPRESENTATIVE JOHN P. MURTHA

Representative John P. Murtha (D-PA) is a nineteen-term member of Congress,
representing Pennsylvania’s 12th congressional district.  Rep. Murtha chairs the Defense
Appropriations Subcommittee of the House Appropriations Committee.  Rep. Murtha’s ethics
issues and violations stem from (1) his ties to the PMA Group, a now defunct lobbying firm
under federal investigation; (2) his ties to Kuchera Industries, a defense contractor under federal
investigation; (3) his ties to defense executives and former military personnel convicted of
skimming money from government contracts; (4) actions he may have taken on benefit his
brother’s lobbying clients; and (5) his chief of staff’s threats to a political opponent. 

Rep. Murtha’s failure to become majority leader in the House is attributed in large part to
the ethical questions about  his conduct.1 Rep. Murtha was included in CREW’s 2006, 2007, and
2008 reports on congressional corruption.

PMA Group

Paul Magliocchetti worked with Rep. Murtha as a senior staffer on the Defense
appropriations subcommittee for ten years.2  After leaving the committee, Mr. Magliocchetti
founded the PMA Group, which has become a prominent Washington, D.C. defense lobbying
firms.3  According to the Center for Responsive Politics, in the 2006 campaign cycle, the PMA
Group and eleven of the firm’s clients ranked in the top 20 contributors to Rep. Murtha, having
made campaign contributions totaling $274,649.4  In the 2004 and 2002 cycles, PMA and nine of
the firm’s clients ranked in the top twenty contributors having given $236,7995 and $279,074,6
respectively.  Roll Call has reported that PMA employees and clients contributed $800,000 to
Rep. Murtha’s campaigns during a six-year period.7

So far in the 2008 election cycle, the PMA group and its clients have contributed
$106,000 to Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee and PAC.8  Of the PMA clients listed as 
contributors for the 2008 cycle, nine were ranked in the top 20 donors to Rep. Murtha for the
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2006 election cycle.9 

In turn, many of PMA’s clients have benefited significantly from Rep. Murtha’s
earmarks.  In the 2006 Defense Appropriations bill, PMA clients received at least 60 earmarks, 
totaling $95.1 million.10

Concurrent Technologies Corporation

In 2007, Rep. Murtha inserted into the Energy and Water Appropriations bill a $1 million
earmark to establish the Center for Instrumented Critical Infrastructure.11  Rep. Murtha claimed
that the Department of Energy supported this earmark for a project in his district protecting
natural gas pipelines, but the Department denied supporting the request.12  The Center is
apparently a subsidiary of Concurrent Technology Corporation (CTC ), a non-profit technology
innovation center in Rep. Murtha’s district which has received hundreds of millions of dollars in
earmarks in recent years.13  According to the Department of Energy, the Department decided not
to support the provision when it was initially included in a 2007 appropriations bill and has not
changed its position.14

CTC describes itself as an “independent, non-profit, applied research and development
professional services organization providing innovative management and technology-based
solutions.” 15 The corporation has 1,500 employees and a number of buildings, including the
John P. Murtha Technology Center.16  According to the organization’s 2005 tax forms, it
received $243,960,365 in 2005, of which $212,739,257 consisted of government grants.17 
Daniel DeVos, the president and chief executive officer, received compensation of $587,296,
John Pursley, Jr., the executive vice president, received $488,009, Michael Katz, senior vice
president and chief operating officer, received $430,511, Edward Sheehan, Jr., senior vice
president and chief financial officer, received $415,954, and twelve other top compensated
employees received between $213,600 and $374,208.18  The organization paid the PMA Group
$452,659, but claimed to spend only $302,392 on lobbying.19  It also paid Sarkady, “a global
consulting company, committed to developing courageous, visionary leaders who can transform
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corporations into high performance engines of financial wealth and social value,”20 $285,327.21

Since 2000, CTC employees, board members, and their families have donated $113,375
to Rep. Murtha’s election campaigns22 and since 2006, have donated $3,250 to his political
action committee, Majority PAC.23  Notably, Mr. DeVos has recognized Rep. Murtha’s
significance to his business and has stated that he has been preparing for life after Rep. Murtha
for about a decade.24 

Other Earmarks

A number of other Johnstown companies also received earmarks in the fiscal year 2008
Defense Appropriations Bill: Conemaugh Health System, DRS Technologies, KDH Defense
Systems, Kuchera Defense Systems, L. Robert Kimball and Associates, MTS Technologies, 
Northrop Grumman, St. Francis University’s Center for Excellence and Windber Research
Institute.25  As it happens, all have contributed generously to Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee
and his political action committee:
 

Since 2002, Conemaugh Health System employees, board members and their family
members have contributed $47,750 to Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee.26 

Since 2000, employees of DRS Technologies and their family members have donated
$83,500 to Rep. Murtha.27  Since 2002, the firm’s political action committee, DRS
Technology Good Government Fund, has donated $35,000 to Rep. Murtha’s campaign
committee and his PAC.28  

 
Since 2003, KDH Defense system President David E. Herbener has donated $7,200 to
Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee.29  
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Since 2002, employees of L. Robert Kimball and Associates and their families have
donated $33,700 to Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee.30  Since 2006, Employees of the
firm have also donated $6,000 to Rep. Murtha’s PAC.31    

Since 2002, employees of Kuchera Defense Industries and their family members have
donated $61,400 to Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee32 and since 2006, they have
contributed an additional $6,000 to his PAC.33   

Since 2001, MTS Technologies’ employees, board members and their families have
contributed $74,200 to Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee.34  In addition, since 2006,
employees of MTS have contributed $9,000 to Rep. Murtha’s PAC.35  

Since 2000, Northrop Grumman’s PAC has contributed a total of $34,500 to Rep.
Murtha’s campaign committee and PAC.36  

Since 2000, employees of St. Francis University and their families have donated $15,500
to Rep. Murtha’s campaign campaign.37  

Since 2000, employees. board members, and family membesr of Windber Research
Institute have donated $21,250 to Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee and PAC.38 
Additionally, since 2006, employees of Windber Research Institute have also contributed
$2,200 to Rep. Murtha’s political action committee.39  
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Acceptance of a Bribe

Federal law prohibits public officials from directly or indirectly demanding, seeking,
receiving, accepting, or agreeing to receive or accept anything of value in return for being
influenced in the performance of an official act.40  It is well-settled that accepting a contribution
to a political campaign can constitute a bribe if a quid pro quo can be demonstrated.41

If, as it appears, Rep. Murtha accepted donations to his campaign and political action
committees in direct exchange for earmarking federal funds to clients of the PMA Group, he
may have violated the bribery statute. 

If, as it appears, Rep. Murtha accepted donations to his campaign committee and political
action committee in direct exchange for earmarking federal funds for CTC and other entities, he
may have violated the bribery statute. 

Honest Services Fraud

Federal law prohibits a member of Congress from depriving his constituents, the House
of Representatives, and the United States of the right of honest service, including conscientious,
loyal, faithful, disinterested, unbiased service, performed free of deceit, undue influence, conflict
of interest, self-enrichment, self-dealing, concealment, bribery, fraud and corruption.42  By using
his position as a member of Congress to financially benefit clients of a lobbying firm owned by
his close friend and staffed by his former associates, and by earmarking federal funds in apparent
exchange for campaign contributions, Rep. Murtha may be depriving his constituents, the House
of Representatives, and the United States of his honest services in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§1341,
1346.  

Illegal Gratuity

The illegal gratuity statute prohibits a public official from directly or indirectly
demanding, seeking, receiving, accepting, or agreeing to accept anything of value personally for
or because of any official act performed or to be performed by such official.43  In considering
this statute, the Supreme Court has held that a link must be established between the gratuity and
a specific action taken by or to be taken by the government official.44

If a link is established between Rep. Murtha’s earmarking federal funds for the PMA
Group’s clients, CTC and other entities, and the contributions made by employees of those
entities to his campaign committee and PAC, he may have violated the illegal gratuity statute.
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In addition, the Committee on Standards of Official Conduct has used the acceptance of
bribes and gratuities under these statutes as a basis for disciplinary proceedings and punishment
of members, including expulsion.45

5 U.S.C. § 7353 and House Rules

A provision of the Ethics Reform Act of 1989, 5 U.S.C. § 7353, prohibits members of the
House, officers, and employees from asking for anything of value from a broad range of people,
including “anyone who seeks official action from the House, does business with the House, or
has interests which may be substantially affected by the performance of official duties.”46  House
Rule XXIII, clause 3, similarly provides: 

A Member, Delegate, Resident Commissioner, or employee
of the House may not receive compensation and may not permit
compensation to accrue to his beneficial interest from any
source, the receipt of which would occur by virtue of influence
improperly exerted from his position in the Congress.

If Rep. Murtha accepted campaign contributions from the PMA Group and its clients,
CTC or anyone else in return for legislative assistance by way of federal earmarks, he likely
violated 5 U.S.C. § 7353 and House Rule XXIII.

5 C.F.R. § 2635.702(a)

Members of the House are prohibited from “taking any official actions for the prospect of
personal gain for themselves or anyone else.”47  House members are directed to adhere to 5
C.F.R. § 2635.702(a), issued by the U.S. Office of Government Ethics for the Executive Branch,
which provides:

An employee shall not use or permit use of his Government
position or title or any authority associated with his public
office in a manner that is intended to coerce or induce another
person . . . to provide any benefit, financial or otherwise,
to himself or to friends, relatives, or persons with whom the
employee is affiliated in a nongovernmental capacity.
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The Code of Ethics also provides that government officials should “[n]ever discriminate
unfairly by the dispensing of special favors or privileges to anyone whether for remuneration or
not.”48

By funneling federal funds to clients of the PMA Group, the lobbying firm of a former
staff member, Rep. Murtha  may have dispensed special favors and violated 5 C.F.R. §
2635.702(a).

Conduct Not Reflecting Creditably on the House

In addition, Rule 23 of the House Ethics Manual requires all members of the House to
conduct themselves “at all times in a manner that reflects creditably on the House.”49  This ethics
standard is considered to be “the most comprehensive provision” of the code.50  When this
section was first adopted, the Select Committee on Standards of Official Conduct of the 90th
Congress noted that it was included within the Code to deal with “flagrant” violations of the law
that reflect on “Congress as a whole,” and that might otherwise go unpunished.51  This rule has
been relied on by the Ethics Committee in numerous prior cases in which the Committee found
unethical conduct including: the failure to report campaign contributions,52 making false
statements to the Committee,53 criminal convictions for bribery,54 or accepting illegal gratuities,55

and accepting gifts from persons with interest in legislation in violation of the gift rule.56
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If Rep. Murtha accepted campaign contributions in return for legislative favors in the
form of earmarks, his conduct would not reflect creditably on the House in violation of Rule 23,
clause 1.

Threat to Deny Spending Projects

After Rep. Mike Rogers (R-MI) offered a procedural motion on May 10, 2007, that
would have stripped a $23 million earmark from the intelligence authorization bill designated for
the National Drug Intelligence Center ( NDIC ) and have the Department of Justice’s Inspector
General audit the effectiveness of the center, located in Rep. Murtha’s district, Rep. Murtha
approached Rep. Rogers on the House floor and stated, “I hope you don’t have any earmarks in
the defense appropriations bills because they are gone, and you will not get any earmarks now
and forever.”57  Rep. Rogers replied, “This is not the way we do things here,” and, “is that
supposed to make me afraid of you?”  Rep. Murtha retorted, “That’s the way I do it.”58

Although Rep. Rogers declined to file a formal ethics complaint, he described Rep.
Murtha’s actions as “cajoling, bullying, threatening intimidation and they crossed a line.”59  On
May 22, 2007, a resolution aimed at reprimanding Rep. Murtha for threatening Rep. Rogers’
earmark was permanently tabled on a 219-189 vote.60  Rep. Michael Doyle (D-PA) was the only
member of the House ethics committee to vote to table the resolution.61  The other members of
the committee voted present, except for Chair Stephanie Tubbs Jones (D-OH) who did not
vote.62 Finally, on May 23, 2007, Rep. Murtha apologized to Rep. Rogers for his “outburst.”63 

Earlier in May, Rep. Murtha had threatened Rep. Todd Tiahrt (R-KS), the only
Republican member to sit on both the House Intelligence Committee and the Defense
Appropriations Committee, for voting in favor of Rep. Rogers’ amendment to kill the NDIC in
the intelligence committee mark-up.64  Rep. Murtha approached Rep. Tiahrt on the House floor
and unleashed a finger-pointing tirade at the other lawmaker, during which he [Rep. Murtha]
threatened to withdraw his support from a defense project associated with the Boeing company
in Rep. Tiahrt’s district.65  When confronted, Rep. Tiahrt explained that he had not known the
earmark had been inserted by Rep. Murtha.  Asked about the issue later, Rep. Tiahrt claimed, “It
was a little misunderstanding,” and refused to discuss the matter.66  After his conversation with
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Rep. Murtha, Rep. Tiahrt apparently changed his position regarding the NDIC earmark; despite
having voted for Rep. Rogers’ amendment in committee, he voted against it on the House floor.67

House Rules

House Rule 23, clause 16 provides: 

A Member, Delegate, or Resident Commissioner may not condition the inclusion
of language to provide funding for a congressional earmark, a limited tax benefit,
or a limited tariff benefit in any bill or joint resolution (or an accompanying
report) or in any conference report on a bill or joint resolution (including an
accompanying joint explanatory statement of managers) on any vote cast by
another Member, Delegate, or Resident Commissioner.  For purposes of this
clause and clause 17, the terms ''congressional earmark,'' ''limited tax benefit,'' and
''limited tariff benefit'' shall have the meanings given them in clause 9 of rule 21.

Rule 21, clause 9(d) provides:

For the purpose of this clause, the term ''congressional earmark'' means a
provision or report language included primarily at the request of a Member,
Delegate, Resident Commissioner, or Senator providing, authorizing or
recommending a specific amount of discretionary budget authority, credit
authority, or other spending authority for a contract, loan, loan guarantee, grant,
loan authority, or other expenditure with or to an entity, or targeted to a specific
State, locality or Congressional district, other than through a statutory or
administrative formula driven or competitive award process.

Rep. Murtha’s threat to block any congressional earmarks requested by Rep. Rogers in
retaliation for Rep. Rogers’ efforts to strip Rep. Murtha’s earmark out of legislation and his
threat to withdraw his support for a project in Rep. Tiahart’s district in retaliation for Rep.
Tiahrt’s committee vote to kill the NDIC violate Rule 23, clause 16 and do not reflect creditably
on the House.   

2008 UPDATE

PMA Group

PMA clients have continued to donate and receive federal funding. The fiscal year 2008
Defense Appropriations Bill steered at least $100.5 million to PMA clients.68  The bill included
36 projects for 24 of their clients.69  So far in the 2008 cycle, 10 of Rep. Murtha’s top 20 donors
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are PMA clients.70  Those PMA clients, the PMA Group itself, as well as other PMA clients
including, Conemaugh Health Systems, Windber Research Institute and L. Robert Kimball have
all donated a combined $190,880 to Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee and PAC since the
second quarter of 2007.71

Concurrent Technologies Corporation

Concurrent Technologies Corporation (CTC) employees and executives have donated
$9,050 to Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee72 and $2,000 to his PAC since the second quarter
of 2007.73  According to CTC’s 2006 IRS 990 form, the non-profit received $225,589,223 in
funding from the federal government.74  CTC the PMA Group $456,34975 for consulting but
claimed lobbying expenditures of $316,892.76  Daniel DeVos, the president and chief executive
officer, received compensation of $638,816; John Pursley, Jr., the executive vice president,
received $519,131; Michael Katz, senior vice president and chief operating officer, received
$454,254; Edward Sheehan, Jr., senior vice president and chief financial officer, received
$442,330; and 14 other top compensated employees received between $222,350 and $392,613.77 

Critics of CTC have charged that earmarked federal funds have resulted in few new
developments.78 A Pentagon inspector general audit found that CTC subsidiary, the National
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Defense Center for Environmental Excellence, had demonstrated 63 technologies between 1990
and 2000, of which only a third were transferred over to the Defense Department,79 and of those
only one technology has been used at more than one site.80  In that ten year period the center
received $212 million in appropriations.81  A former CTC director characterized much of the
non-profit’s work as never getting off the planning table.82 

Although, CTC continues to maintain a close relationship with Rep. Murtha, the non-
profit has built other relationships on the Hill.83  It has opened offices in both Democratic and
Republican districts leading to more sources of federal funding.84 Congress has earmarked at
least $226 million for CTC since 2003.85

Another CTC subsidiary to draw scrutiny is the non-profit Commonwealth Research
Institute (CRI).  In the fall of 2007, it was revealed that CRI hired a civilian Air Force employee
for two months while the official awaited White House approval for his appointment.86  The
employee, Charles Riechers, testified before the Senate Armed Service Committee that while
being paid a salary of $13,400 a month by CRI he did not actually do any work for the group.87 
In fact, Mr. Riechers was hired as a senior technical advisor before he had even met CRI
executives.88  

In April of 2008, the FBI and the Pentagon Defense Criminal Investigation Service
issued subpoenas seeking information regarding contracts awarded to CRI and its parent
company CTC.89  Investigators sought information about seven contracts,90 four of which were
awarded to CTC over several weeks in May and June 2002 and worth up to $130 million.91 
Investigators also wanted information regarding a 2002 CRI deal worth $10 million and a 2006
no-bid contract worth up to $45 million.92  Investigators retrieved computers and contracting
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records to investigate whether an Air Force contract with CRI was properly awarded.93  All
contracts were issued by the Department of the Interior’s National Business Center, other audits
have found that the department has issued contacts without competition or checks to determine if
prices were reasonable.94 The Defense Department’s inspector general’s office is also
investigating the relationship between the Air Force and CRI.95 

Additionally, in 2007, Sen. Charles Grassley began an inquiry into why CTC has been
considered a tax exempt charity.96  

ProLogic Earmarks

Rep. Murtha has also earmarked for ProLogic, Inc., a small software company under
federal investigation for allegedly diverting federal funds to develop software for commercial
sale.97  Despite the federal probe investigating the abuse of taxpayer money, Rep. Murtha
inserted a $2.4 million earmark for the company for fiscal year 2008.98  Since 2002, executives
and spouses of ProLogic have donated $42,900 to Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee,99 and
$10,000 to Rep. Murtha’s PAC.100  Additionally, ProLogic’s PAC has donated $18,000 to both
Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee and PAC.101  ProLogic was a PMA client.102
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Other Earmarks

Companies that received earmarks in the fiscal year 2008 Defense Appropriation Bill
have continued to donate to Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee and PAC. Among them, 
Advanced Acoustic Concepts, Conemaugh Health Systems, DRS Technologies, L. Robert
Kimball, MTS Technologies, and Windber Research Institute, have also retained the services of
the PMA Group.103 

Since 2002, executives of Advanced Acoustic Concepts have donated $28,500 to Rep.
Murtha’s campaign committee.104  In addition, since 2003, Advanced Acoustic Concepts’
corporate PAC has donated $40,000 to Rep. Murtha.105 

Since the second quarter of 2007, employees of Conemaugh Health Systems have
donated $6,000 to Rep. Murtha.106 

Since the second quarter of 2007, executives of DRS have donated $16,700 to Rep.
Murtha’s campaign committee.107  Also during that period, DRS’s corporate PAC has
donated $10,000 to Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee108 and $10,000 to his PAC.109
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Since the third quarter of 2007, executives of L. Robert Kimball and Associates have
donated $3,500 to Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee.110

Since the second quarter or 2007, executives of MTS Technologies have donated $7,100
to Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee.111

Since the third quarter of 2007, employees and executives of the former Windber
Research Institute, have donated $5,480 to Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee.112

Since the second quarter of 2007, employees of Kuchera Defense have donated $11,500
to Rep. Murtha campaign committee.113 Additionally, in 2008, William Kuchera,
President of Kuchera Defense Systems, donated $1,000 to Rep. Murtha’s PAC.114  

2009 UPDATE

PMA Group

In November 2008, federal authorities raided the offices of the PMA Group and the home
of its founder, Paul Magliocchetti.115  The PMA Group is being investigated for allegedly
violating campaign finance laws by using “straw” donors to make contributions to lawmakers,
concealing the true source of the money.116  In some cases, lawmakers received contributions
from individuals listed as PMA lobbyists despite the fact that the individuals were never
employees of the firm.117  Additionally, Mr. Magliocchetti may have reimbursed his employees
for contributions made to candidates.118  After news of the raid broke, the lobbying shop closed
its doors on March 31, 2009.119   
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Since February 2009, Rep. Jeff Flake (R-AZ) has offered at least eight privileged
resolutions about the PMA Group and asked for a House Ethics Committee investigation of the
link between earmarks and campaign contributions.120  Rep. Flake’s first resolution did not seek
any action related to any one member or any specific lobbying firm and called only for an
investigation into “the relationship between earmark requests already made by Members and the
source and timing of past campaign contributions.”121  But Rep. Flake’s second resolution, made
in March 2009, called for an investigation into the “relationship between earmark requests on the
behalf of clients of the raided firm [the PMA Group] already made by Members and the source
and timing of past campaign contributions related to such requests.”122  Rep. Flake continued
offering these resolutions periodically, but withheld his ninth resolution in deference to a similar
measure put forward by House Majority Leader Steny Hoyer (D-MD) in June 2009.123  With
each new resolution Rep. Flake attracted an increasing numbers of Democratic supporters,
including Rep. Pete Visclosky (D-IN) a potential target of an Ethics Committee investigation.124 

On June 3, Rep. Hoyer brought his resolution, H. Res. 500, to the floor, which directed
the Ethics Committee “to report to the House of Representatives on the actions the Committee
has taken concerning any misconduct of Members and employees of the House in connection
with the activities of the PMA Group.”125  The resolution came after months of Democratic
resistance to  Rep. Flake’s efforts to compel an Ethics Committee investigation of the PMA
Group.126   The Democratic measure asked the Ethics Committee to disclose what, if any, action
it had taken concerning the PMA Group, but did not require the committee to conduct an
investigation, as Rep. Flake and House Republicans wanted.127  The vote on Rep. Hoyer’s
resolution was largely along party lines with 17 members, including those on the Ethics
Committee, voting present.128  The resolution gave the Ethics Committee 45 day to respond to
the House of Representatives.129  On June 11, the Ethics Committee responded that it was
investigating “certain, specific allegations within the committee’s jurisdiction” relating to the
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PMA Group130  The Ethics Committee’s statement did not mention any specific lawmaker by
name, and Rep. Murtha’s spokesperson said the committee had not contacted his office.131

Prior to that, in April 2009, four good-government groups – Democracy 21, Common
Cause, Public Citizen and U.S. PIRG – wrote the House Ethics Committee urging the committee
to open an investigation into the activities of the PMA Group and Rep. Murtha, Rep. Pete
Visclosky (D-PA), and Rep. James Moran (D-VA).132  The groups asked the committee to
examine whether these members were influenced by campaign contributions in exchange for
earmarks for the PMA Group clients.133

Despite the investigations into PMA’s practices, lawmakers have continued to earmark
for the firm’s former clients.134  Thus far in fiscal year 2009, former PMA Group clients have
received $317 million in earmarks, with Rep. Murtha requesting $16.2 million of that total for
Parametric Technology Corporation; Ardiem Medical; MobilVox; DRS Technologies; and MTS
Technologies.135  In exchange, these companies made contributions to Rep. Murtha’s campaign
committee and political action committee:

Since 2005, Parametric Technology Corporation’s political action committee has donated
$25,000 to Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee and political action committee.136

Since 2007, employees of Adriem Medical have donated $3,500 to Rep. Murtha’s
campaign committee.137

Since 2002, employees of MobilVox have donated $33,400 to Rep. Murtha’s campaign
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committee and political action committee.138

Since the third quarter of 2008, employees of DRS Technologies have donated $6,600 to
Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee.139  In total, employees of DRS Technologies have
donated $90,100 to Rep. Murtha since 2000.140  The company’s political action
committee, DRS Technology Good Government Fund, has donated $35,000 to Rep.
Murtha’s election committee and his political action committee since 2002.141 

Since the third quarter of 2008, employees of MTS Technologies have donated $2,000 to
Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee.142  In total, employees of MTS technology have
donated $76,200 to Rep. Murtha since 2001.143  In addition, since 2006, employees of
MTS have contributed $9,000 to Rep. Murtha’s political action committee.144 

Since 1998, Rep. Murtha has accepted $2,378,552 from PMA Group employees and
clients of the firm, making him the biggest recipient of contributions from the firm.145

Electro-Optics Center Investigation

The Electro-Optics Center (EOC) is a joint program between the University of
Pennsylvania and the Office of Naval Research established in 1999 with the assistance of Rep.
Murtha.146  The EOC was intended to generate high-tech jobs in western Pennsylvania and has
received nearly $250 million in funding from Rep. Murtha.147  
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Federal investigators are examining the EOC as part of their larger probe of the PMA
Group.148  Records indicate the EOC worked with two individuals closely tied to Rep. Murtha,
one a PMA Group lobbyist, Daniel Cunningham, the other a long time friend of the lawmaker
now working on his staff, Charlie Horner.149  Together they guided a large portion of the EOC’s
funding to firms that had made contributions to the lawmaker.150  The EOC director worked with
the two men to come up with a “wish list” of appropriation earmarks that were delivered to Rep.
Murtha’s office.151  The EOC heavily favored PMA Group clients when distributing its
funding.152  In fact, one company, nLight, had its request for funding rejected after it dropped the
PMA Group as its lobbyist.153  

According to lobbying disclosures, despite working closely with a PMA Group lobbyist,
the EOC did not retain the services of the firm.  Rep. Murtha’s office has stated that it will not be
making any funding requests for the EOC in fiscal year 2009; going forward it will receive its
funding directly from military through a competitive bidding process.154

Concurrent Technologies Corp Tax Status Investigation 

Federal authorities continue their investigation into Concurrent Technologies
Corporation (CTC) and its subsidiary, Commonwealth Research Institute (CRI).155  CRI is under
particular scrutiny concerning the process in which it was awarded its non-profit status.156  When
CRI petitioned the IRS for tax-exempt status the IRS questioned whether the group’s purpose as
a research institute was adequate rationale for tax-exempt status and noted that “research results
must be made available to the interested public.”157  CRI responded that it planned to work
primarily with government contracts, only a small portion of which would be classified; but in
the nine years since the group petitioned the government for tax-exempt status it has not
published any of its government backed research.158  

Previously, CRI caught the attention of the Pentagon’s Office of Inspector General (IG),
which was investigating payments made by CRI to an Air Force official awaiting confirmation
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for work that was never done.159  Shortly after admitting to a Washington Post reporter that he
was being paid, but not doing any work in return, the official committed suicide.160  The IG’s
investigation has been placed on hold pending the outcome of other probes into Rep. Murtha
related entities.161

According to CTC’s 2007 IRS 990, the non-profit received $220,423,075 in funding from
the federal government.162  The group’s 990 also indicates that it paid the PMA Group $461,334
for consulting services.163  

According to CRI’s 2007 IRS 990, the non-profit received $5,104,829 in funding from
the federal government.164  Since 2003, the group’s total funding has jumped from $632,884 to
just over $5 million.165

Since the third quarter of 2008, employees of CTC have donated $2,100 to Rep. Murtha’s
campaign committee.166  Federal Election Commission data does not indicate that employees of
CRI have made donations to Rep. Murtha.  According to Rep. Murtha’s congressional website,
the lawmaker has not requested any earmarks for CTC or CRI in fiscal year 2010 spending
bills.167 

Other Former PMA Group Clients

Since the third quarter of 2008, employees of Advanced Acoustic Concepts have
donated $15,100 to Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee.168

Since the third quarter of 2008, employees of Conemaugh Health Systems have donated
$7,150 to Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee.169 



170 Murtha for Congress Committee, FEC Form 3, Post-General Report 2008, December 2, 2008, p. 84 (Exhibit 99).
171 Paul Singer, Murtha Had Long Relationship With Defense Firm, Roll Call, January 23, 2009 (Exhibit 100).
172 Shawn Piatek, Federal Probe Focuses on Kuchera Corporate Officers, LBK Game Ranch, Tribune-Democrat,
January 23, 2009 (Exhibit 101).
173 Dennis B. Roddy, Defense Firm Head Admits Early Role in Illegal Drugs, Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, June 5, 2009
(Exhibit 102). 
174 Susan Crabtree, Fundraiser for Murtha May Have Broken Campaign Finance Rules, The Hill, February 17, 2009
(Exhibit 103). 
175 Kuchera Appeals Order Banning Work with Navy, Tribune-Democrat, May 28, 2009 (Exhibit 104). 
176 Pete Yost, Suspension Lifted for Contractor Tied to Murtha, Associated Press, August 14, 2009 (Exhibit 105).
177 Roddy, Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, Jun. 5, 2009. 
178 Carol D. Leonnig and Alice Crites, Firms Tied to Murtha Have Troubled Past, Washington Post, June 5, 2009
(Exhibit 106).  
179 Id.
180 Id.
181 Id.

Since the third quarter of 2008, L. Robert Kimball and Associates’s chairman, L. Robert
Kimball, has donated $2,300 to Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee.170

Kuchera Corporation

In January 2009, federal investigators raided the headquarters of Kuchera Corporation as
well as the homes of the company’s two top executives.171  The investigation concerns the
misuse of corporate funds to finance a private ranch owned by the company’s president, Bill
Kuchera,172 and contract fraud.173  In August 2008, Rep. Murtha held a fundraiser at the ranch,
but failed to report any payments or in-kind donations related to the event, in violation of
campaign finance law.174  In response to the investigation surrounding the firm, the U.S. Navy
placed the company on its Excluded Parties List, barring the firm from receiving any more
federal contracts.175  The suspension was revoked, however, after Kuchera agreed to alter some
of its accounting practices.176

In 1982, Mr. Kuchera pleaded guilty to a single felony count related to drug trafficking
and spent less than a year in prison.177  After his release Mr. Kuchera approached his uncle, then
the owner of Kuchera Industries, based in Racine, Wisconsin for a job.178  When Mr. Kuchera’s
partner in the drug-running operation, Peter Whorley, was released from prison in 1986, he
approached Mr. Kuchera and invested $50,000 in the fledgling company in exchange for a share
of the profits.179  Mr. Whorley also help connect Kuchera Industries with government contracts
from the Census Bureau.180  Later, Mr. Whorley was again convicted of selling drugs and sent to
prison.181  
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In 1993, Mr. Kuchera joined with his brother Ron Kuchera and misled their uncle into
selling Kuchera Industries to a shell company controlled by the brothers.182  The following year,
the brothers moved the company to Windber, Pennsylvania into Rep. Murtha’s district, with the
goal of winning defense contracts from the lawmaker.183  With encouragement from Rep.
Murtha, Kuchera Industries partnered with Hughes Aircraft and started winning contracts from
the government.184  Mr. Kuchera’s felony conviction never barred his company from winning
contracts to handle sensitive government work.185   

Kuchera Industries also qualified as a small, disadvantaged business because at least 20%
of its employees are disabled.186  In fact, Mr. Kuchera for a time served on the board of the
Pennsylvania Association for Individuals with Disabilities (PAID), a non-profit with the mission
to help disabled people find work in western Pennsylvania.187  PAID was founded with the
assistance of Rep. Murtha in partnership with a former aide to the lawmaker and current lobbyist
for KSA Consulting, Carmen Scialabba.188 

Since 2001, Rep. Murtha has directed approximately $50 million in earmarks to Kuchera
Industries.189  In turn, since 2002, employees of Kuchera Industries and their families have
donated to $90,500 to Rep. Murtha’s campaign committee.190  Additionally, since 2006,
employees as well as their families have donated $7,000 to Rep. Murtha’s PAC.191   Kuchera
Industries shares links with a host of other Rep. Murtha connected organizations, including
lobbyists and defense contractors.192 

KSA Consulting

KSA Consulting is a lobbying firm that has employed Rep. Murtha’s brother, Robert
“Kit” Murtha, as well as Mr. Scialabba.193  Mr. Scialabba joined KSA Consulting after leaving
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the House Appropriations Committee where he worked as an aide to Rep. Murtha.194  Clients of
the lobbying firm that have received earmarks from Rep. Murtha include Aeptec Microsystems,
Coherent Systems International, MountainTop Technologies, and KDH Technologies.195

Mr. Murtha was personally invited to join KSA Consulting as a lobbyist in 2002 by Mr.
Scialabba, where he established a reputation as an “earmark specialist.”196  In 2004, Congress
passed a $417 billion defense appropriations bill, which included earmarks benefitting at least 10
companies represented by KSA Consulting.197  Records show that KSA Consulting directly
lobbied Rep. Murtha’s office for seven of those companies.198  Mr. Murtha retired from KSA
Consulting in 2006.199

Pennsylvania Association for Individuals with Disabilities (PAID)

In 2001, Mr. Scialabba with the help of Rep. Murtha, who was instrumental in securing
the $500,000 in start-up funds, founded the Pennsylvania Association for Individuals with
Disabilities (PAID).200  The non-profit’s purpose is to help disabled workers find work in rural
Pennsylvania, but it also serves as another conduit for lobbyists and defense contractors to
connect with Rep. Murtha.201  At one time, PAID’s board of directors included five government
contractors, including Ron Kuchera of Kuchera Industries, and at least three KSA lobbyists sat
on its advisory board.202

MountainTop Technologies 

MountainTop Technologies (MTT) is a defense contractor that primarily develops
content for web-based training programs, but has in recent years diversified to provide other
services.203  The company was a client of KSA Consulting until 2004, and “Kit” Murtha lobbied
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for the company.204  In the past five years, MTT, based in Rep. Murtha’s district, has been
awarded at least $36 million in contracts, most without competition.205  The Justice Department
is investigating how a company with little experience in law-enforcement was selected to
administer $10 million in Justice Department grants distributed to local Pennsylvania police
departments.206  Rep. Murtha selected MTT via a succession of earmarks to administer the
program and distribute the funds, which often were handed out before fall elections and with the
explanation that it was made possible by the lawmaker.207  MTT has grown significantly since it
was first founded in 1993 and has branched out to military and aviation related work, but often
has to hire outside specialists to help complete its contracted work.208 

KDH Technologies 

KDH Technologies received its first government contract in 2004, sewing bullet-proof
vests for the U.S. Navy, before the company even had a manufacturing facility.209  The company
had, however, expressed interest in opening a facility in Rep. Murtha’s district.210  In 2003, KDH
became a client of KSA Consulting and Rep. Murtha’s brother lobbied for the company until his
retirement in 2006.211 

Rep. Murtha earmarked at least $3 million for KDH to develop an underwater sonar
system to detect swimmers for the Navy, although the company has no expertise in building
sonar systems.212  In 2004, KDH president David Herbener made a presentation to Department of
Defense about the project and claimed he had already secured an earmark worth $1 million in
fiscal year 2005 from Rep. Murtha.213  Also at that meeting, Mr. Herbener claimed that KDH
intended to partner with two other Johnstown based contractors, Kuchera Industries and
Coherent Systems International (CSI).214  Those plans never came to fruition; lawyers for
Kuchera contend they never worked with KDH and CSI dropped out of the deal within days of
the contract signing.215  Instead, KDH eventually partnered with a British company, Curtis
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Technology, an expert in sonar, to finish the engineering work, but the project was continually
delayed, and the partnership resulted in a court battle.216  In the interim, the Navy decided to
purchase a system from another company.217  

Despite losing its customer, KDH saw its contract move from the Navy to the Army
when the procurement officer in charge of the sonar project moved from the Navy to the
Army.218  Finally, last fall KDH completed a prototype, but said it would have to be re-
engineered before it could be mass produced.219 

Aeptec Microsystems, Coherent Systems International and Schaller Engineering

Aeptec Microsystems is a defense contractor based in Rockville, Maryland.220  In 2004,
the company opened an office in Rep. Murtha’s district, but never moved in to it.221  Aeptec
retained the services of KSA Consulting and Rep. Murtha’s brother.222  At one time the company
was also a client of the PMA Group.223  From 2000 through 2004 the company saw its federal
grants jump from $13 million to $33 million.224  The firm maintained other ties with Rep.
Murtha, it was as an early supporter of PAID, the non-profit the lawmaker formed with his aide,
Mr. Scialabba.225

In 2005, the House passed a military spending bill securing funding for countries coping
with the aftermath of the December 2004 tsunami.226  Included in that bill was an earmark worth
$8.2 million for Coherent Systems International (CSI) to build a unified battlefield
communications platform, but the project had earlier been awarded to Aeptec.227  For unknown
reasons the relationship between Rep. Murtha and Aeptec dissolved and the company saw its
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funding stripped, allegedly by Rep. Murtha’s office, and transferred to CSI.228  Also, in the end
of 2004, KSA Consulting filed termination papers ending its relationship with Aeptec.229

According to court documents and a plea agreement, after CSI received the battlefield
communications system earmark that had been stripped from Aeptec, the company’s president,
Richard Ianieri, sub-contracted the work out to five other firms.230  All five firms, including
Kuchera Industries, have worked with lobbying firms tied to Rep. Murtha.231  Prosecutors allege
that work was either never completed on the project, or work was done for projects unrelated to
the original earmark.232  In July 2009, Mr. Ianieri pleaded guilty to charges that he accepted
$200,000 in bribes from an employee of Kuchera Industries.233  CSI and Kuchera had very close
ties; in fact in 2006 Rep. Murtha touted the relationship, claiming the two companies were
working “virtually as one.”234 

Schaller Engineering, owned by Richard Schaller, was sub-contracted by Mr. Ianieri to
provide tracking systems235 at a price of $200,000.236  In July 2009, Mr. Schaller was found
guilty of destroying records and perjuring himself before a grand jury.237  The government
accused Mr. Schaller, his business partner, Theodore Sumrall, and the defense department
procurement officer in charge of the project, Mark O’Hair, of splitting the money between
themselves and not delivering the devices.238  Just prior to his trial, Mr. O’Hair pleaded guilty to
charges he had skimmed money from the contract.239  Schaller Engineering was a client of the
PMA Group in 2005 and 2006.240
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In September 2005, Mr. Kuchera, Mr. Schaller, Mr. Ianieri and Mr. O’Hair, along with
two lobbyists from KSA, met with a staffer from Rep. Murtha’s district office to discuss
opportunities to provide communication equipment to the military.241  

Threats to Political Opponents

John Hugya is Rep. Murth’s chief of staff.242  At a National Rifle Association meeting in
March 2009, Mr. Hugya approached Rep. Murtha’s Republican opponent in the 2008 election,
William Russell, and threatened to have him recalled to active duty to face prosecution.243  Mr.
Hugya had earlier made a similar threat to Mr. Russell’s former commanding officer.244  Mr.
Russell retired from the U.S. Army Reserves in June 2008, but was on active duty for part of the
congressional race.245  Regulations prohibit members of the military from campaigning for
political office while serving.246 

Robert C. Murtha, Jr. 

Rep. Murtha’s nephew, Robert C. Murtha, Jr., operates Murtech Inc., a warehouse
management and engineering services firm.247  Mr. Murtha’s company received $4 million in
Pentagon contracts in 2008 alone.248  At least one early Murtech contract, worth $1.4 million,
was awarded without competition.249  Documents obtained by the Washington Post showed that
Mr. Murtha used his uncle’s position to leverage his business, an accusation he firmly denies.250 
In one e-mail Mr. Murtha warned that unless the work was moved to Johnstown, PA “financial
rewards” would be endangered for everyone.251  Furthermore, Mr. Murtha and his company have
been accused of not doing any real work on the federal contacts he received, and that the role his
company played in the federal work was unnecessary.252
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Former Staffers

In addition to Mr. Magliocchetti and Mr. Scialabba, at least five former aides to the
lawmaker have gone on to lucrative careers in lobbying:253  

David Morrison is a former staff assistant for the House Defense Appropriations
Subcommittee and, since 2008, a lobbyist for the Podesta Group.254  One of Mr.
Morrison’s clients is the University of Pittsburgh.255  In a fiscal year 2010 appropriations
bill, Rep. Murtha requested a $3 million earmark for the school for a program to digitize
health records.256

Greg Dalhberg is a former staff assistant for the House Defense Appropriations
subcommittee and, since 2003, a lobbyist for Lockheed Martin.257

Greg Walters is a former staff assistant for the House Defense Appropriations
Subcommittee.258  From 2003 to 2004, Mr. Walters was a registered lobbyist for the PMA
Group, and since 2005, he has been a registered lobbyist for Lockheed Martin.259

David Kilian is a former minority staff assistant for the House Appropriations
Committee.260  Since 2004, Mr. Kilian has been registered to lobby for Innovative Federal
Strategies, f/k/a Copeland Lowery Jacquez Denton & White.261  In 2005 and 2006, Mr.
Kilian was also registered to lobby for his own company, David Kilian Strategies.262 
From 2006 through 2009, Mr. Kilian has lobbied on behalf of MountainTop
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Technologies while working for both firms.263

Scott Harshman worked for Rep. Murtha in various capacities starting in 1994 until 2003,
when he left his job as district economic development coordinator to start his own
lobbying firm, Harshman Consulting.264  One of Mr. Harshman’s clients is Nokomis Inc.,
a defense contractor for which Rep. Murtha has requested earmarks worth $6 million for
anti-improvised explosive device technology.265

Gabrielle Carruth is a former member of the House Appropriations associate staff, after 
she left the committee, she joined Argon ST as the company’s first in-house lobbyist.266 
In 2009, she terminated her lobbying registration with the company and registered to
lobby with Lockheed Martin.267

Acceptance of a Bribe

Federal law prohibits public officials from directly or indirectly demanding, seeking,
receiving, accepting, or agreeing to receive or accept anything of value in return for being
influenced in the performance of an official act.268  It is well-settled that accepting a contribution
to a political campaign can constitute a bribe if a quid pro quo can be demonstrated.269

If, as it appears, Rep. Murtha accepted donations to his campaign and political action
committees in direct exchange for earmarking federal funds, he may have violated the bribery
statute. 

Honest Services Fraud

Federal law prohibits a member of Congress from depriving his constituents, the House
of Representatives, and the United States of the right of honest service, including conscientious,
loyal, faithful, disinterested, unbiased service, performed free of deceit, undue influence, conflict
of interest, self-enrichment, self-dealing, concealment, bribery, fraud and corruption.270  By using
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his position as a member of Congress to financially benefit clients of lobbying firms run by
people close to him, and by earmarking federal funds in apparent exchange for campaign
contributions, Rep. Murtha may be depriving his constituents, the House of Representatives, and
the United States of his honest services in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§1341, 1346.  

Similarly, if Rep. Murtha directed earmarks to companies for the financial benefit of his
nephew, he may have engaged in honest services fraud.

Illegal Gratuity

The illegal gratuity statute prohibits a public official from directly or indirectly
demanding, seeking, receiving, accepting, or agreeing to accept anything of value personally for
or because of any official act performed or to be performed by such official.271   If a link is
established between Rep. Murtha’s earmarking federal funds for clients of particular lobbying
groups and other entities, and the contributions made by employees of those entities to his
campaign committee and PAC, he may have violated the illegal gratuity statute.

In addition, the Committee on Standards of Official Conduct has used the acceptance of
bribes and gratuities under these statutes as a basis for disciplinary proceedings and punishment
of members, including expulsion.272

5 U.S.C. § 7353 and House Rules

A provision of the Ethics Reform Act of 1989, 5 U.S.C. § 7353, prohibits members of the
House, officers, and employees from asking for anything of value from a broad range of people,
including “anyone who seeks official action from the House, does business with the House, or
has interests which may be substantially affected by the performance of official duties.”273 
House Rule XXIII, clause 3, similarly provides: 

A Member, Delegate, Resident Commissioner, or employee
of the House may not receive compensation and may not permit
compensation to accrue to his beneficial interest from any
source, the receipt of which would occur by virtue of influence
improperly exerted from his position in the Congress.

If Rep. Murtha accepted campaign contributions in exchange for earmarks, he likely
violated 5 U.S.C. § 7353 and House Rule XXIII.
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5 C.F.R. § 2635.702(a)

Members of the House are prohibited from “taking any official actions for the prospect of
personal gain for themselves or anyone else.”274  House members are directed to adhere to 5
C.F.R. § 2635.702(a), issued by the U.S. Office of Government Ethics for the Executive Branch,
which provides:

An employee shall not use or permit use of his Government
position or title or any authority associated with his public
office in a manner that is intended to coerce or induce another
person . . . to provide any benefit, financial or otherwise,
to himself or to friends, relatives, or persons with whom the
employee is affiliated in a nongovernmental capacity.

The Code of Ethics also provides that government officials should “[n]ever discriminate
unfairly by the dispensing of special favors or privileges to anyone whether for remuneration or
not.”275

By funneling federal funds to clients of particular lobbying firms and by directing
business to a firm that hired his nephew, Rep. Murtha  may have dispensed special favors in
violation of 5 C.F.R. § 2635.702(a).

Conduct Not Reflecting Creditably on the House

In addition, Rule 23 of the House Ethics Manual requires all members of the House to
conduct themselves “at all times in a manner that reflects creditably on the House.”276 
If Rep. Murtha accepted campaign contributions in return for legislative favors in the form of
earmarks, his conduct would not reflect creditably on the House.

In addition, if Rep. Murtha had his chief of staff threaten to have a political rival recalled
to active duty if he again challenged Rep. Murtha, such conduct would not reflect creditably on
the House.


